Studies in Health Care Policy



February 2009

A Comparative Analysis of Mortality Rates Associated with Coronary Artery Bypass Graft (CABG) Surgery in Ontario and Select US States

by Michael Walker, Maureen Hazel, and Nadeem Esmail



FRASER INISTITUTE Health Care Policy

February 2009

A Comparative Analysis of Mortality Rates Associated with Coronary Artery Bypass Graft (CABG) Surgery in Ontario and Select US States

by Michael Walker, Maureen Hazel, and Nadeem Esmail

Contents

Executive summary 🚿 3
Introduction 🕷 5
Background 🚿 6
Methodology 🚿 9
Findings 🕷 13
Discussion 11 22
References 🗰 23
About the authors 🚿 25
Acknowledgments 🚿 26
About this publication 🚿 27
Supporting the Fraser Institute 🛛 🕺 28
About the Fraser Institute 🛛 🦋 29
Editorial Advisory Board 🛛 🗰 30

Executive summary

The purpose of this study is threefold: first, to ascertain whether there are differences between mortality rates associated with coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery in Ontario hospitals that perform such surgeries; second, to test whether the aggregate CABG mortality rate in Ontario is changing; and, third, to test whether the aggregate CABG mortality rate in Ontario is different than the aggregate CABG mortality rate in US states for which comparative data are available.

The coronary artery bypass graft surgery mortality rate is a widely used health outcome measure, since the surgery is performed in high volumes, requires complex surgical and perioperative care, and has easily measurable rates of adverse effects. Comparing coronary artery bypass graft mortality rates within and across jurisdictions can assist patients in making decisions related to their health and may improve outcomes from treatment in underperforming facilities or regions.

This study relies on the fact that mortality rates for CABG surgery have been calculated in a standard way in a 2008 report by the US Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) for a number of jurisdictions in the United States and most recently in Canada by the Fraser Institute. [1] The methodology used for calculating bypass surgery mortality rates was developed by AHRQ in conjunction with Stanford University. This measure has been shown to reflect the quality of care in hospitals where better processes of care may lead to lower mortality rates (AHRQ, 2006).

Data are available for 31 US states for the years 2003 and 2004, with data for one additional state available for 2004 (AHRQ, 2008). Data for Ontario were extracted from the Fraser Institute's hospital report cards for Ontario, published at www.hospitalreportcards.ca, which use the AHRQ methodology also employed for the aforementioned US states (Esmail and Hazel, 2008; Mullins et al., 2006).

¹ Both the Fraser Institute report and the AHRQ report use the AHRQ's Inpatient Quality Indicator #12 (using version 2.1 of the AHRQ Inpatient Quality Indicators software) to calculate the CABG mortality rate for individuals over the age of 40 without transfers to another institution.

We find considerable hospital-by-hospital variation in risk-adjusted [2] mortality rates in Ontario. This variation is large enough to make a material difference in the likelihood of mortality for a patient of a given risk-adjusted health status. Over the period of 2002/2003 to 2004/2005, the University of Ottawa Heart Institute and St. Mary's General Hospital were found to have the lowest risk-adjusted mortality rates in Ontario, while Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre and Anonymous Hospital 104 [3] were found to have the highest rates in Ontario.

We also found that the risk-adjusted CABG mortality rate in Ontario increased from 3.38% in 2002/2003 to 3.60% in 2003/2004, and to 4.00% in 2004/2005, though this increase was not statistically significant.

According to the comparison of mortality rates associated with CABG in Ontario and selected US states, patients seeking to minimize risk of death would be better off having surgery in all but five of the 32 identified US states in preference to Ontario in 2004. Further, 20 of the 32 identified US states had risk-adjusted mortality rates that were statistically lower than Ontario's in 2004. [4] There is also an increasing gap between the performance of hospitals in Ontario and many US states.

A comparison of hospital mortality rates in Ontario reveals material differences in the mortality rates experienced by patients, depending on where they were treated. While the data cannot explain why hospitals experienced different mortality rates, it is clear that changing providers can have a significant impact on the likelihood of mortality for a given patient. There are also notable differences in the mortality experiences of different jurisdictions.

² The comparisons in this study are based on risk-adjusted measures in order to account for differences in relative risk levels between facilities and jurisdictions. In both the Fraser Institute report and the AHRQ report, the indicators are adjusted by age, gender, agegender interactions, and the 3M[™] APR-DRG risk of mortality score.

³ Hospitals that consented to be identified alongside their results in the Fraser Institute's Hospital Report Card (43 out of 136 hospitals, representing 41% of inpatient records in Ontario in 2004/2005) are named; the identities of other institutions that did not consent to be identified were encrypted by the CIHI prior to delivery and assigned an arbitrary number in the full report.

⁴ CABG mortality rates are measured in terms of calendar year by AHRQ, and in terms of fiscal year by the Fraser Institute. However, given that rates remain relatively constant (as shown in table 8, rates significantly changed for only two US states between 2003 and 2004), the comparison can be considered to be accurate.

Introduction

The purpose of this study is threefold: first, to ascertain whether there are differences between mortality rates associated with coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery in Ontario hospitals that perform such surgeries; second, to test whether the aggregate CABG mortality rate in Ontario is changing; and, third, to test whether the aggregate CABG mortality rate in Ontario is different than the aggregate CABG mortality rate in US states for which comparative data are available.

Background

Why study coronary artery bypass graft surgery?

The coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery mortality rate is a widely used health outcome measure since the surgery is performed in high numbers, requires complex surgical and perioperative care, and has easily measurable rates of adverse events. In the 1990s, New York and Pennsylvania led the way in constructing CABG outcome reports by publishing statistics on state-wide CABG surgery outcomes. Following the publication of these reports, a marked decline in CABG mortality rates in those two states was noted (Hannan et al., 1994; PHC4, 1998).

Studies of CABG in Ontario

A number of studies have also looked at CABG surgery outcomes in Ontario. For example, a study by Tu et al. (1996) used the clinical information contained in the adult Cardiac Care Network (CCN) of Ontario database and linked it to outcomes and co-morbidity data contained in the Canadian Institute for Health Information's (CIHI) Discharge Abstract Database (DAD) for 1991/1992 to 1993/1994. The authors calculated the three-year risk-adjusted [5] CABG mortality rate in Ontario to be 3.01%; this rate declined from 3.17% in 1991/1992 to 2.93% in 1993/1994. In this study, individual hospitals were not named and no hospital was found to be a high outlier hospital.

Naylor et al. (1999) performed a follow up study with data from 1994/1995 to 1996/1997. In this study, however, all nine cardiac centres in existence during this period were named alongside their results. The authors found that the overall in-hospital risk-adjusted isolated CABG mortality rate in Ontario went from 2.75% in 1994/1995 to 2.19% in 1995/1996 [6] and to 2.23% in 1996/1997. [7] Their results also showed that in 1994/1995 only St. Michael's hospital had a significantly higher mortality rate relative to the provincial average (4.34%, compared to 2.75%). In 1995/1996, the Kingston

- 6 Significantly different than provincial average in 1994/1995 (p<0.05).
- 7 Significantly different than provincial average in 1994/1995 (p<0.05).

⁵ Since more specialized hospitals may treat more high-risk patients and some patients arrive at hospitals sicker than others, it is important to risk adjust the raw data in order to compare hospital death rates for patients with the same condition but a different health status.

General Hospital's risk-adjusted mortality rate was significantly lower than the provincial average (0.29%, compared to 2.19%), and University Hospital (now University Campus, London Health Sciences Centre) demonstrated a significantly higher mortality rate (4.74%, compared to 2.19%). By 1996/1997, no institution had a mortality rate that was significantly higher or lower than the provincial average.

A third follow-up study by Guru et al. (2006) reported data on the 11 cardiac surgical centres that existed in Ontario between the 2002 fiscal year and the 2004 fiscal year. The authors found that the in-hospital riskadjusted isolated CABG mortality rates in Ontario increased from 1.05% in 2002 to 1.26% in 2003, [8] and to 1.33% in 2004. [9] The study also found that Hôpital Régional de Sudbury/Sudbury Regional Hospital had a significantly higher risk-adjusted mortality rate than the provincial average in 2002 (2.96%, compared to 1.05%). All other hospitals were found not to differ significantly from the provincial average. In 2003, Kingston General Hospital (2.37%) and Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre (2.67%) performed significantly worse than the provincial risk-adjusted mortality rate (1.26%); and in 2004, Southlake Regional Health Centre (4.32%) and Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre (2.82%) performed significantly worse than the provincial average (1.33%). In 2004, the University Health Network performed significantly better than the provincial average (0.54%, compared to 1.33%).

A recent study by Spencer et al. (2008) reported data on the same 11 cardiac surgical centres for 2005/2006 and 2006/2007. The authors found that the in-hospital risk-adjusted isolated CABG mortality rates in Ontario increased from 1.08% in 2005/2006 to 1.2% in 2006/2007, though this difference was not statistically significant. In 2005/2006, Sunnybrook Health Science Centre (2.44%) performed significantly worse than the provincial average. In 2006/2007, no hospital's performance was significantly different from the provincial average.

Canada-wide studies of CABG

Ghali et al. (1998) compared in-hospital CABG mortality rates in British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Ontario, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, and Newfoundland & Labrador from 1992/1993 to 1995/1996. The authors used data on CABG procedures contained in the Canadian Institute for Health Information's Discharge Abstract Database. The authors found that wide variation existed among the provinces; risk-adjusted mortality rates

⁸ Not significantly different than provincial average in 2002 (p<0.05).

⁹ Not significantly different than provincial average in 2002 (p< 0.05).

ranged from 2.4% in Nova Scotia to 4.3% in Alberta. The study also found that Alberta, Ontario, and Newfoundland & Labrador had higher risk-adjusted death rates (4.3%, 3.9%, and 3.9%, respectively) than the other provinces for the years studied. Finally, the authors calculated the national death rate for the four-year period to be 3.6%, and noted a trend of decreasing mortality rates from 3.8% to 3.2% between 1992/1993 and 1995/1996.

Subsequently, two of the same researchers with other co-authors increased the scope of their study to include data on Canada-wide, in-hospital risk-adjusted mortality rates for isolated CABG surgery for the 1992 to 2000 fiscal years (Ghali et al., 2003). The authors found that the overall nine-year risk-adjusted CABG mortality rate in Canada was 2.6%, but that it varied significantly across provinces, ranging from 2.0% in Nova Scotia and Manitoba to 3.3% in Newfoundland & Labrador. Further, the national risk-adjusted rate decreased significantly from 3.5% in the 1992 fiscal year to 2.0% in the 2000 fiscal year. In Ontario, the nine-year risk-adjusted CABG mortality rate was 2.8%, similarly decreasing from 3.7% in 1992 to 2.3% in 2000.

Methodology

This study relies on the fact that mortality rates for CABG surgery have been calculated in a standard way in a 2008 report by the US Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) for a number of jurisdictions in the United States and most recently in Canada by the Fraser Institute. [10] The methodology used for calculating bypass surgery mortality rates was developed by the AHRQ in conjunction with Stanford University. This measure has been shown to reflect the quality of care inside hospitals where better processes of care may lead to lower mortality rates (AHRQ, 2006). Data are available for 31 US states for the years 2003 and 2004, with data for one additional US state available for 2004 (AHRQ, 2008). [11]

Data for Ontario were extracted from the Fraser Institute's Hospital Report Card for Ontario, which uses the AHRQ methodology also employed for the aforementioned US states (Esmail and Hazel, 2008; and Mullins et al., 2006). All data analyzed in the Fraser Institute's Hospital Report Card were taken from the Canadian Institute for Health Information's Discharge Abstract Database (DAD) over a nine-year period from April 1st, 1997 to March 31st, 2006. The DAD, which was purchased from the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI), contains over 9.5 million patient records for the specified period. Hospitals that consented to be identified alongside their results are named; the identities of the institutions that did not consent to be identified were encrypted by the CIHI prior to delivery, and assigned an arbitrary number. [12] Data from April 1st, 2003 to March 31st, 2005 [13] (covering fiscal

¹⁰ Both the Fraser Institute report and the AHRQ report use the AHRQ's Inpatient Quality Indicator #12 (using version 2.1 of the AHRQ Inpatient Quality Indicators software) to calculate the coronary artery bypass graft mortality rate for individuals over the age of 40 without transfers to another institution.

¹¹ The AHRQ provides estimates for the following states: Arizona, Arkansas (2004 only), California, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, North Carolina, Oregon, Rhode Island, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, West Virginia, and Wisconsin.

¹² Forty-three out of 136 hospitals, representing 41% of inpatient records in Ontario, agreed to have their institution identified in 2004/2005.

¹³ The *Hospital Report Card: Ontario 2008* also presents CABG mortality rates for 2005/2006. These are not examined in this study since the latest US data from AHRQ is for 2004.

years 2003/2004 and 2004/2005) were extracted and compared to 2003 and 2004 data from the AHRQ report. [14]

Since more specialized hospitals may treat more high-risk patients and some patients arrive at hospitals sicker than others, it is important to risk adjust the raw data in order to compare hospital death rates for patients with the same condition but a different health status. The international standard for classifying risk factors, the 3M[™] APR-DRG classification system, was employed by the AHRQ to calculate risk-adjustment factors which are applied to the data to correct for differences in patients' age and gender, and the presence of co-morbidities (other significant health conditions). Therefore, a hospital with a sicker patient mix is not penalized for a potentially higher mortality rate, while a hospital that treats less ill patients inappropriately is not rewarded for a lower mortality rate.

The technical features of the calculations, along with the limitations and accuracy of the data acquired from CIHI, are presented in the Fraser Institute publication noted above. Readers of this report are strongly urged to consult that larger, more detailed report for information regarding methodology and data accuracy.

Validation of the Fraser Institute's findings for Ontario

A key difference between the Fraser Institute study and the other studies surveyed above is the fact that the Fraser Institute study uses the standard AHRQ definition of CABG. The Canadian studies discussed in the preceding sections focus on isolated cardiac artery bypass graft (ICABG)—CABG that does not involve valve repair or other interventions. The Fraser Institute's Hospital Report Card looks at all CABG surgeries.

The focus of the Fraser Institute's Hospital Report Card allows the comparison of hospitals within Canada and between Canada and the United States, using similar definitions, methods, and risk adjustment. Consequently, this study assesses all CABG surgery mortality rates (and not only ICABG mortality rates) since comparable data are available for a number of US states for this definition of CABG surgeries. In addition to making Canada-US comparisons possible, comprehensive measurement ensures that all types of CABG competency are assessed. The use of broad, identical samples for the calculation of risk adjustment parameters reduces the possibility that

¹⁴ CABG mortality rates are measured in terms of calendar year by AHRQ, and in terms of fiscal year by the Fraser Institute. However, given that rates remain relatively constant (as shown in table 8, rates significantly changed for only two states between 2003 and 2004), the comparison can be considered to be accurate.

comparisons might be distorted by different rates of risk adjustment for the different jurisdictions. [15]

The study performed by Guru et al. (2006) establishes a ranking for Ontario hospitals focusing on ICABG. This ranking can be used as a comparator for the ranking focusing on CABG. In general, we would expect to find a lower mortality rate for ICABG than for CABG since ICABG is the least complicated form of the procedure. However, the ranking of the hospitals around the mean outcome should be similar, unless competency to perform ICABG is not an accurate predictor of an institution's ability to perform more complicated CABG procedures.

The results of the Fraser Institute's Hospital Report Card for Ontario are similar to those described in the study performed by Guru et al. (2006), where both studies looked at data from the same time period. Both studies found that variation in outcomes exists among acute care hospitals in Ontario. Additionally, both found that the risk-adjusted CABG mortality rates in Ontario increased between 2002 and 2004. As shown in table 1, other similarities exist, including the relative ordering of St. Mary's General Hospital, Trillium Health Centre, Hamilton Health Sciences Corporation, and Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre (four of the six hospitals that could be compared) relative to the calculated provincial mean in each study in the last year of data. The reasons for the differences in the ordering of the London Health Sciences Centre and the University of Ottawa Heart Institute are unclear, but they may be caused by differences in risk adjustment models or differences in CABG performance in general when compared to ICABG, as noted above. Unfortunately, we cannot agree or disagree with Guru et al.'s (2006) findings on Hôpital Régional de Sudbury/ Sudbury Regional Hospital, Kingston General Hospital, Southlake Regional Health Centre, St. Michael's Hospital, or the University Health Network's performance since these hospitals did not agree to be identified in the Fraser Institute report.

The broad concurrence of the extant literature and the Fraser Institute's Hospital Report Card using the AHRQ standard CABG classification gives evidence that the various comparisons of hospital performance are an accurate representation of hospital performance with respect to CABG in Ontario, and a reasonable guide to differences in salient performance characteristics in the jurisdictions examined.

¹⁵ The comparisons in this study are based on risk-adjusted measures in order to account for differences in relative risk levels between facilities and jurisdictions. In both the Fraser Institute report and the AHRQ report, the indicators are adjusted by age, gender, agegender interactions, and the 3M[™] APR-DRG risk of mortality score.

Table 1: Calculated risk-adjusted CABG mortality rates in Guru et al. (2006) and in the Fraser Institute's Ontario Hospital Report Card, 2004

Guru et al.	Risk-adjusted mortality rate	Order	Fraser Institute	Risk-adjusted mortality rate	Order
St. Mary's General Hospital	0.29	1	St. Mary's General Hospital	2.18	1
University Health Network	0.54	2	University of Ottawa Heart Institute	2.27	2
London Health Sciences Centre	0.74	3	Hospital 10	3.28	3
Hôpital Régional de Sudbury / Sudbury Regional Hospital	0.81	4	Hospital 50	3.55	4
Trillium Health Centre	0.82	5	Trillium Health Centre	3.99	5
Ontario Average	1.33	6	Ontario Average	4.00	6
Hamilton Health Sciences Corporation	1.44	7	Hamilton Health Sciences Corporation	4.25	7
St. Michael's Hospital	1.55	8	Hospital 109	4.29	8
University of Ottawa Heart Institute	1.62	9	Hospital 8	4.50	9
Kingston General Hospital	1.89	10	London Health Sciences Centre	4.55	10
Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre	2.82	11	Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre	5.52	11
Southlake Regional Health Centre	4.32	12	Hospital 104	6.27	12

Sources: Guru et al., 2006; Esmail and Hazel, 2008.

Findings

Is there a significant difference in the mortality rates among hospitals in Ontario?

Figure 1, which presents the mortality rates aggregated for fiscal years 2002/2003 to 2004/2005, shows that there is considerable variation around the mean provincial mortality rate. Some hospitals have mortality rates that





Note: St. Mary's General Hospital was not performing CABG surgeries in the 2002 fiscal year. Hospital 104 did not exist in 2002. Source: Mullins et al., 2006, special data extract.

	Maximum probable upper limit	Minimum probable lower limit	Average
University of Ottawa Heart Institute	2.82	1.62	2.22
Hospital 10	3.51	2.49	3.00
St. Mary's General Hospital*	3.61	1.17	2.39
Hospital 50	3.65	2.41	3.03
Ontario average	3.86	3.46	3.66
Trillium Health Centre	4.32	3.06	3.69
Hamilton Health Sciences Corporation	4.26	3.14	3.70
London Health Sciences Centre	4.46	3.36	3.91
Hospital 109	5.04	3.28	4.16
Hospital 8	5.28	3.56	4.42
Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre	6.23	4.95	5.59
Hospital 104**	7.36	4.92	6.14

Table 2: Maximum probable risk-adjusted mortality rate for three-year pooled data (2002/2003-2004/2005) for Ontario

* St. Mary's General Hospital was not performing CABG surgeries in the 2002 fiscal year.

** This institution did not exist in 2002.

Source: Mullins et al., 2006, special data extract.

are indistinguishable from the provincial aggregate, some are higher, and some are lower. Since all of the patient information used to calculate the rates is adjusted for risk, the variations amongst hospitals can be taken to imply the variations in risk a patient would encounter by choosing a particular hospital relative to the average risk in the province. [16]

For a patient actually choosing an institution at which to have surgery, the main objective is to minimize risk. Minimizing risk means avoiding hospitals that have high rates of risk-adjusted mortality. Since the estimates that are calculated for the hospitals have a range, avoiding risk means choosing the hospital that has the lowest maximum probable mortality rate.

In Ontario, the University of Ottawa Heart Institute, which had a maximum probable risk-adjusted mortality rate of 2.82% over the three-year period, is overall the least risky hospital for CABG surgery (table 2). Hospital 10, St. Mary's General, and Hospital 50, which have risk-adjusted mortality rates of

¹⁶ The comparisons in this study are based on risk-adjusted measures in order to account for underlying differences in risk levels between facilities and jurisdictions.

3.51%, 3.61%, and 3.65%, respectively, are also less risky, while Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre and Hospital 104, with probable mortality rates as high as 6.23% and 7.36%, respectively, are the most risky.

Of course, though we are measuring institutional performance, it is possible that within each institution there is variance among surgeons. Also, this comparison of hospitals assumes that each patient has the standard risk features for which all patient records are adjusted. To the extent that a potential patient has knowledge of the internal variance among surgeons, or how their own risk factors differ from the standard ones used in the risk adjustment, it may be possible for them to have a less risky procedure at a higher risk institution. Mortality rates for individual surgeons are recorded, but not made available by the CIHI; consequently, they could not be calculated in this study. The risk of going to any particular hospital is calculated on the basis of the standard risk factors, and, as noted, a particular patient with particular risks may do better at some hospitals than others.

As can be seen in tables 3, 4, and 5, the assessment of the maximum probable risk-adjusted mortality rate does not change if, instead of pooling

	Maximum probable upper limit	Minimum probable lower limit	Average
University of Ottawa Heart Institute	3.31	1.29	2.30
Hospital 10	3.53	1.81	2.67
Ontario average	3.73	3.03	3.38
Hospital 50	3.92	1.88	2.90
London Health Sciences	4.38	2.56	3.47
Hamilton Health Sciences	4.40	2.48	3.44
Trillium Health Centre	4.85	2.55	3.70
Hospital 8	5.46	2.46	3.96
Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre	5.71	3.63	4.67
Hospital 109	6.16	3.28	4.72
St. Mary's General Hospital*	—	—	—
Hospital 104**	_	_	_

Table 3: Maximum probable risk-adjusted mortality rate in Ontario, 2002/2003

* St. Mary's General Hospital was not performing CABG surgeries in the 2002 fiscal year.

** This institution did not exist in 2002.

Source: Esmail and Hazel, 2008, special data extract.

	Maximum probable upper limit	Minimum probable lower limit	Average
University of Ottawa Heart Institute	3.11	1.05	2.08
Hospital 50	3.76	1.50	2.63
Ontario average	3.95	3.25	3.60
Hospital 10	3.97	2.17	3.07
Hamilton Health Sciences Corporation	4.43	2.47	3.45
Trillium Health Centre	4.44	2.34	3.39
St. Mary's General Hospital	4.54	0.82	2.68
London Health Sciences Centre	4.77	2.89	3.83
Hospital 109	4.96	1.92	3.44
Hospital 8	6.24	3.30	4.77
Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre	7.73	5.55	6.64
Hospital 104	8.60	2.10	5.35

Table 4: Maximum probable risk-adjusted mortality rate in Ontario, 2003/2004

Source: Esmail and Hazel, 2008, special data extract.

Table 5: Maximum probable risk-adjusted mortality rate in Ontario, 2004/2005

	Maximum probable upper limit	Minimum probable lower limit	Average
University of Ottawa Heart Institute	3.32	1.22	2.27
St. Mary's General Hospital	3.80	0.56	2.18
Hospital 10	4.18	2.38	3.28
Ontario average	4.35	3.65	4.00
Hospital 50	4.62	2.48	3.55
Trillium Health Centre	5.06	2.92	3.99
Hamilton Health Sciences Corporation	5.24	3.26	4.25
London Health Sciences Centre	5.57	3.53	4.55
Hospital 109	5.92	2.66	4.29
Hospital 8	5.98	3.02	4.50
Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre	6.70	4.34	5.52
Hospital 104	7.59	4.95	6.27

Source: Esmail and Hazel, 2008, special data extract.

all three years, the years are examined individually. University of Ottawa Heart Institute is the least risky hospital for all three years, while Hospital 104 (only ranked for two years since this institution did not exist in 2002) and Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre are among the two most risky in each year examined.

Are mortality rates for patients undergoing CABG surgery the same in Ontario as they are in the United States?

An examination of the risk-adjusted mortality rates for the 32 US states in 2004 reveals that mortality rates vary between jurisdictions. Of these 32 states, only Vermont, Arkansas, and New Hampshire have a risk-adjusted mortality rate that is equal to or greater than that found in Ontario (figure 2).

Table 6 presents the data along with the confidence intervals for the estimates of the risk-adjusted mortality rates for the 32 US jurisdictions and for Ontario; it also presents a mortality rate estimate for the United States as a whole. Using the estimated confidence intervals, the data shows that nearly two thirds (20) of the US states studied have risk-adjusted mortality rates that are statistically lower than Ontario's rate.

Using the same logic as was applied in the case of a patient seeking the least risky hospital in Ontario, a patient seeking the least risky hospital in this collection of jurisdictions would select the jurisdiction with the lowest maximum probable mortality rate. In 2004, a patient seeking to avoid risk would have preferred all but five of the states examined over Ontario. In the cases of Minnesota and Massachusetts, an Ontario patient seeking CABG surgery would, by going to an average Minnesota or Massachusetts hospital for CABG surgery, reduce their probable upper limit risk of mortality by about 41% since the average probable upper limit mortality rates at the cardiac surgery centres in those states are on average only 59% of the average probable upper limit rate in Ontario.

These comparisons demonstrate that patients who wish to minimize their risk by avoiding hospitals with high maximum probable mortality rates would choose a hospital in most of the US states measured over one in Ontario. And this is true both for states like New York, which performs this procedure on 865 people per million of its population, and Colorado, which performs the procedure on only 504 people per million of its population; in Ontario, this rate is 755 procedures per million population (table 7).



Figure 2: CABG mortality rates in Ontario and select US states, 2004

* The Total US measure is an estimate constructed from the Nationwide Inpatient Sample and is not a simple average of the individual state measures shown here (AHRQ, 2008). Sources: AHRQ, 2008; Esmail and Hazel, 2008.

	Average	Probable Upper Limit	Probable Lower Limit
Vermont	5.83	7.44	4.22
Arkansas	5.03	5.60	4.46
New Hampshire	4.09	4.99	3.19
Ontario	4.00	4.35	3.65
Utah	3.88	4.64	3.12
Oregon	3.77	4.36	3.18
Texas	3.76	3.98	3.54
Georgia	3.65	4.06	3.24
Nebraska	3.51	4.27	2.75
Washington	3.37	3.82	2.92
West Virginia	3.30	3.95	2.65
Tennessee	3.25	3.58	2.92
lowa	3.16	3.83	2.49
Rhode Island	3.11	4.15	2.07
Wisconsin	3.10	3.49	2.71
North Carolina	3.07	3.44	2.70
South Carolina	3.06	3.57	2.55
Missouri	3.04	3.37	2.71
Nevada	3.01	3.62	2.40
California	2.97	3.17	2.77
Florida	2.85	3.03	2.67
Total US*	2.84	2.90	2.78
Kentucky	2.76	3.13	2.39
Virginia	2.72	3.13	2.31
Illinois	2.71	2.98	2.44
Kansas	2.70	3.31	2.09
New Jersey	2.58	2.91	2.25
New York	2.54	2.78	2.30
Arizona	2.40	2.77	2.03
Maryland	2.39	2.80	1.98
Michigan	2.38	2.65	2.11
Colorado	2.32	2.89	1.75
Massachusetts	2.16	2.57	1.75
Minnesota	2.06	2.55	1.57

Table 6: CABG mortality rates in Ontario and select US states, 2004

* The Total US measure is an estimate constructed from the Nationwide Inpatient Sample and is not a simple average of the individual state measures shown here (AHRQ, 2008).

Sources: AHRQ, 2008; Esmail and Hazel, 2008, special data extract; calculations by authors.

Table 7: Number of cardiac bypass surgeries performed in Colorado, Oregon, Ontario, New York, and Texas, per million population, 2004

	Number of procedures	Population (thousands)	Procedure rate (procedures/million)
Colorado	2,324	4,609	504
Oregon	3,248	3,583	906
Ontario	9,378	12,420	755
New York	16,658	19,258	865
Texas	22,232	22,455	990

Sources:

US data: US Census Bureau, 2008; New York State Hospital Report Card, <http://www. myhealthfinder.com>; Indicators of Inpatient Care in Texas Hospitals, <http://www.dshs. state.tx.us/thcic/publications/hospitals/HospitalReports.shtm>; Colorado Hospital Report Card, <http://www.cohospitalquality.org/index.php>; Oregon Hospital Quality Indicators, <http://www.oregon.gov/OHPPR/HQ/index.shtml>.

Ontario data: Statistics Canada, undated; Esmail and Hazel, 2008.

Calculations by authors.

Are mortality rates for patients undergoing CABG surgery improving or deteriorating in Ontario and the United States?

To answer this question it is necessary to construct confidence limits for the mean mortality rate in a given year and then observe whether the confidence limit for the mean mortality rate in the subsequent year overlaps or not. Because data were available for 31 US states and for Ontario for two consecutive years, 2003 and 2004, a test could be performed for these jurisdictions.

The results (table 8) indicate that there was a statistically significant change between the two measured years for only three of the jurisdictions (two US states and the US national measure) shown in the table. [17] The mean estimates were higher for 2004 than they were in 2003 for only nine jurisdictions. Ontario's mortality rate estimate increased between 2003 and 2004. This increase caused the gap between the performance of hospitals in Ontario and of those in many US jurisdictions to widen markedly between 2003 and 2004. For example, Minnesota's mortality rate as a proportion of Ontario's rate went from 69% to 52%.

¹⁷ The confidence intervals for the risk-adjusted rate give probable lower and upper limits. For example, in 2004, the mortality rate in Minnesota could, statistically speaking, be as low as 1.57% or as high as 2.55%.

	2003		2004	
	Risk adjusted mortality rate (%)	95% Confidence interval	Risk adjusted mortality rate (%)	95% Confidence interval
Minnesota	2.49	1.98, 3.00	2.06	1.57, 2.55
Massachusetts	2.55	2.14, 2.96	2.16	1.75, 2.57
Colorado	2.74	2.17, 3.31	2.32	1.75, 2.89
Michigan	2.56	2.29, 2.83	2.38	2.11, 2.65
Maryland	2.61	2.18, 3.04	2.39	1.98, 2.80
Arizona	3.04	2.63, 3.45	2.40	2.03, 2.77
New York	2.84	2.60, 3.08	2.54	2.30, 2.78
New Jersey	2.94	2.61, 3.27	2.58	2.25, 2.91
Kansas	3.45	2.84, 4.06	2.70	2.09, 3.31
Illinois	3.13	2.86, 3.40	2.71	2.44, 2.98
Virginia	3.16	2.71, 3.61	2.72	2.31, 3.13
Kentucky	3.04	2.65, 3.43	2.76	2.39, 3.13
Florida	3.04	2.86, 3.22	2.85	2.67, 3.03
California	2.94	2.74, 3.14	2.97	2.77, 3.17
Nevada	4.01	3.38, 4.64	3.01	2.40, 3.62
Missouri	2.99	2.66, 3.32	3.04	2.71, 3.37
South Carolina	3.60	3.09, 4.11	3.06	2.55, 3.57
North Carolina	3.98	3.61, 4.35	3.07*	2.70, 3.44
Wisconsin	3.08	2.71, 3.45	3.10	2.71, 3.49
Rhode Island	4.36	3.40, 5.32	3.11	2.07, 4.15
lowa	3.00	2.29, 3.71	3.16	2.49, 3.83
Tennessee	3.68	3.33, 4.03	3.25	2.92, 3.58
West Virginia	3.69	2.98, 4.40	3.30	2.65, 3.95
Washington	3.88	3.43, 4.33	3.37	2.92, 3.82
Nebraska	3.03	2.34, 3.72	3.51	2.75, 4.27
Georgia	4.22	3.79, 4.65	3.65	3.24, 4.06
Texas	4.72	4.48, 4.96	3.76*	3.54, 3.98
Oregon	3.36	2.77, 3.95	3.77	3.18, 4.36
Utah	3.06	2.30, 3.82	3.88	3.12, 4.64
Ontario	3.60	3.25, 3.95	4.00	3.65, 4.35
New Hampshire	4.21	3.35, 5.07	4.09	3.19, 4.99
Arkansas	N/A	N/A	5.03	4.46, 5.60
Vermont	3.27	1.64, 4.90	5.83	4.22, 7.44
Total US**	3.22	3.16, 3.28	2.84*	2.78, 2.90

Table 8: CABG mortality rates in Ontario and select US states, 2003 and 2004

* Change from 2003 to 2004 was statistically significant.

** The Total US measure is an estimate constructed from the Nationwide Inpatient Sample and is not a simple average of the individual state measures shown here (AHRQ, 2008).

Sources: AHRQ, 2008; Esmail and Hazel, 2008, special data extract; calculations by authors.

Discussion

A comparison of hospital mortality rates in Ontario reveals material differences in the CABG mortality rates in different hospitals. While the data cannot explain why hospitals had different mortality experiences, it is clear that changing providers could have a significant impact on the likelihood of mortality for a given patient.

There are also notable differences in the mortality experiences of different jurisdictions. A comparison of CABG mortality rate data, computed using the AHRQ methodology, for 33 jurisdictions (32 American states, one Canadian province), reveals that Ontario has one of the highest measured risk-adjusted mortality rates. Using the estimated confidence intervals, 20 US states were found to have mortality rates that were statistically lower than Ontario's rate in 2004. This was also true for the Total US measure. Moreover, the analysis in this study reveals that, in 2004, a patient seeking to avoid risk would statistically prefer all but five of the states examined over Ontario.

References

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality [AHRQ] (2006). *Guide to Inpatient Quality Indicators* (Ver. 3.0). Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality [AHRQ] (2008). *National Healthcare Quality Report: 2007*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.

Esmail, Nadeem, and Maureen Hazel (2008). *Hospital Report Card: Ontario 2008*. Fraser Institute.

Ghali, William A., Hude Quan, and Rollin Brant (1998). Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting in Canada: National and Provincial Mortality Trends, 1992-1995. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 159, 1: 25–31.

Ghali, William A, Hude Quan, Fiona M. Shrive, and Gregory M. Hirsch, for the Canadian Cardiovascular Outcomes Research Team (2003). Outcomes after Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery in Canada: 1992/93 to 2000/01. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology* 19, 7: 774–81.

Guru, V., J. Wang, L. Donovan, and J.V. Tu (2006). *Report on Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery in Ontario Fiscal Years* 2002-2004. Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences.

Hannan, E.L., H. Kilburn, Jr., M. Racz, E. Shields, and M.R. Chassin (1994). Improving the Outcomes of Coronary Bypass Surgery in New York State. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 271: 761–66.

Mullins, Mark, Rena Menaker, and Nadeem Esmail (2006). *Hospital Report Card: Ontario 2006*. Fraser Institute.

Naylor, C. David, Deanna M. Rothwell, Jack V. Tu, Peter Austin, and the Steering Committee of the Cardiac Care Network of Ontario (1999). Outcomes of Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery in Ontario. In C. David Naylor and Pamela M. Slaughter (eds.), *Cardiovascular Health and Services in Ontario* (Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences): 189–98. Pennsylvania Health Care Cost Containment Council [PHC4] (1998). *Pennsylvania's Guide To Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery 1994- 1995: Information about Hospitals, Cardiac Surgeons, and Health Plans.* Pennsylvania Health Care Cost Containment Council. http://www.phc4.org/reports/cabg/95/default.htm.

Spencer, Gary, J. Wang, L. Donovan, and J.V. Tu (2008). *Report on Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery in Ontario, Fiscal Years 2005/06 and 2006/07.* Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences.

Statistics Canada (undated). *Provincial Economic Accounts*. <www.statcan. gc.ca>.

Tu, Jack V., C. David Naylor, and the Steering Committee of the Provincial Adult Cardiac Care Network of Ontario (1996). Coronary Artery Bypass Mortality Rates in Ontario: A Canadian Approach to Quality Assurance in Cardiac Surgery. *Circulation* 94: 2429–33.

US Census Bureau (2008). *2007 Population Estimates*. http://factfinder.census.gov, as of December 19, 2008.

About the authors

Michael Walker is a Senior Fellow of the Fraser Institute and President of the Fraser Institute Foundation. He served as Executive Director of the Fraser Institute from its establishment in 1974 until 2005. He received his B.A. (Summa) from St. Francis Xavier University and his Ph.D. in econometrics from the University of Western Ontario. He writes regularly for daily newspapers and financial periodicals. His articles have appeared in technical journals in Canada, the United States, and Europe, including the *American Economic Review, Canadian Journal of Economics, Canadian Public Policy, Health Affairs*, and *Canadian Tax Journal*. He has written or edited 50 books on economic matters.

Maureen Hazel is a former Health Policy Analyst with the Fraser Institute's Centre for Health System Performance Studies. During her time at the Institute, she co-authored several Hospital Report Cards, as well as *Waiting Your Turn: Hospital Waiting Lists in Canada, 18th Edition*. She completed her B.Com. (First Class Honours) and M.A. in economics at McGill University.

Nadeem Esmail is the Director of Health System Performance Studies and Manager of the Alberta Policy Research Centre at the Fraser Institute. He completed his B.A. (Honours) in economics at the University of Calgary, and received an M.A. in economics from the University of British Columbia. His recent publications and co-publications for the Fraser Institute include the *Waiting Your Turn: Hospital Waiting Lists in Canada* series, the *How Good is Canadian Health Care?* series, and *The Alberta Health Care Advantage: An Accessible, High Quality, and Sustainable System*. His articles have appeared in newspapers across Canada, he has spoken internationally on health care policy and reform, and he has been a guest on numerous radio and TV programs across the country.

Acknowledgments

An earlier version of this study using data for six US states was reviewed by three anonymous reviewers. The authors wish to thank them for their review of the original paper and the methodology used in both that version and the latest version here. This version of the study uses the same methodology as that earlier paper but expands the number of US states to 32. The authors also wish to thank an additional anonymous reviewer for their review of this latest version of the study. The authors also wish to thank Rena Menaker for her contributions to this study and to the Fraser Institute's Hospital Report Cards project. Thanks are due, as well, to all those involved in the production and release of this study. The authors take full and complete responsibility for any remaining errors or omissions. As they have worked independently, the views expressed in this study do not necessarily represent the views of the trustees, supporters, or staff of the Fraser Institute.

About this publication

Periodically, the Fraser Institute publishes timely and comprehensive studies of current issues in economics and public policy. This study is one such example belonging to a series of related publications.

Distribution

These publications are available from <http://www.fraserinstitute.org> in Portable Document Format (PDF) and can be read with Adobe Acrobat[®] or with Adobe Reader[®], which is available free of charge from Adobe Systems Inc. To download Adobe Reader, go to this link: <http://www.adobe.com/ products/acrobat/readstep2.html> with your browser. We encourage you to install the most recent version.

Ordering publications

For information about ordering the printed publications of the Fraser Institute, please contact the publications coordinator

- # e-mail: sales@fraserinstitute.org
- # telephone: 604.688.0221 ext. 580; or, toll-free, 1.800.665.3558 ext. 580
- *#* fax: 604.688.8539

Media

For media enquiries, please contact our Communications Department:

- *‰* 604.714.4582
- # e-mail: communications@fraserinstitute.org

Disclaimer

The authors of this publication have worked independently and opinions expressed by them are, therefore, their own, and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the supporters, trustees, or other staff of the Fraser Institute. This publication in no way implies that the Fraser Institute, its trustees, or staff are in favour of, or oppose the passage of, any bill; or that they support or oppose any particular political party or candidate.

Copyright

Copyright © 2009 by the Fraser Institute. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any manner whatsoever without written permission except in the case of brief passages quoted in critical articles and reviews.

ISSNs

1918-2082 Studies in Health Care Policy (print version)1918-2090 Studies in Health Care Policy (online version)

Date of issue

February 2009

Editing, design, and production

Kristin Fryer and Lindsey Thomas Martin

Cover design

Bill Ray

Images for cover

- © KHZ from Fotolia ("Blood Cells"),
- © Ddan Ionut Popescu from iStockphoto ("Heart Monitor")
- © Robert Byron from iStockphoto ("Blood Sample")
- © Emrah Turudu from iStockphoto ("Test Tube")
- © Andrzej Tokarski from Fotolia ("X-Ray")
- © Vasiliy Yakobchuk from iStockphoto ("Brain")

Supporting the Fraser Institute

To learn how to support the Fraser Institute, please contact

- Development Department, Fraser Institute
 Fourth Floor, 1770 Burrard Street
 Vancouver, British Columbia, V6J 3G7 Canada
- *^{**}* telephone, toll-free: 1.800.665.3558 ext. 586
- # e-mail: development@fraserinstitute.org.

About the Fraser Institute

Our vision is a free and prosperous world where individuals benefit from greater choice, competitive markets, and personal responsibility. Our mission is to measure, study, and communicate the impact of competitive markets and government interventions on the welfare of individuals.

Founded in 1974, we are an independent research and educational organization with locations throughout North America and international partners in over 70 countries. Our work is financed by tax-deductible contributions from thousands of individuals, organizations, and foundations. In order to protect its independence, the Institute does not accept grants from government or contracts for research.

菲沙研究所的願景乃一自由而昌盛的世界,當中每個人得以從更豐富的 選擇、具競爭性的市場及自我承擔責任而獲益。我們的使命在於量度、 研究並使人知悉競爭市場及政府干預對個人福祉的影響。

Nous envisageons un monde libre et prospère, où chaque personne bénéficie d'un plus grand choix, de marchés concurrentiels et de responsabilités individuelles. Notre mission consiste à mesurer, à étudier et à communiquer l'effet des marchés concurrentiels et des interventions gouvernementales sur le bien-être des individus.

تتمثل رؤيتنا في وجود عالم حر ومزدهر يستفيد فيه الأفراد من القدرة على الاختيار بشكل أكبر، والأسواق التنافسية، والمسؤولية الشخصية. أما رسالتنا فهي قياس، ودراسة، وتوصيل تأثير الأسواق التنافسية والتدخلات الحكومية المتعلقة بالرفاه الاجتماعي للأفراد.

Nuestra visión es un mundo libre y próspero donde los individuos se beneficien de una mayor oferta, la competencia en los mercados y la responsabilidad individual. Nuestra misión es medir, estudiar y comunicar el impacto de la competencia en los mercados y la intervención gubernamental en el bienestar de los individuos.

Editorial Advisory Board

Prof. Armen Alchian	Prof. James Gwartney
Prof. Terry Anderson	Prof. H.G. Johnson*
Prof. Robert Barro	Prof. Ronald W. Jones
Prof. Michael Bliss	Dr. Jerry Jordan
Prof. James M. Buchanan†	Prof. David Laidler**
Prof. Jean-Pierre Centi	Prof. Richard G. Lipsey**
Prof. Thomas J. Courchene**	Prof. Ross McKitrick
Prof. John Chant	Prof. Michael Parkin
Prof. Bev Dahlby	Prof. F.G. Pennance*
Prof. Erwin Diewert	Prof. Friedrich Schneider
Prof. Stephen Easton	Prof. L.B. Smith
Prof. J.C. Herbert Emery	Prof. George Stigler*†
Prof. Jack L. Granatstein	Mr. Vito Tanzi
Prof. Herbert G. Grubel	Sir Alan Walters
Prof. Friedrich A. Hayek*†	Prof. Edwin G. West*

* deceased; ** withdrawn; [†] Nobel Laureate